The Nazis established Gross-Rosen on the 2 August 1940 in Lower Silesia, as a satellite camp of Sachsenhausen, in the vicinity of the granite quarry of Gross-Rosen. On 1 May 1941 Gross-Rosen became an independent concentration camp; it remained in operation until mid-February 1945, the camps commandants were as follows:

- SS-Obersturmbannführer Arthur Rodl 1941-1942
- SS-Hauptssturmführer Wilhelm Gideon 1942
- SS - Sturmbannführer Johannes Hassebroek 1943 – 1944

Other notable members of the camp staff were as follows:

- Dr. Karl Babor
- Peter Brandenburg
- Karl Brauer
- Herbert Dillmann
- Dr. FrieDr.ich Entress, who served at Mauthausen and Auschwitz
- Walter Ernstberger
- Georg Guessegen
- Waldemar Henneberg
- Dr. Erwin Herzum
- Dr. FrieDr.ich Honig
- Eugen Kunick
- Albert Luetkemeyer
- Karl Magr
- Dr. Josef Mengele who also served at Auschwitz-Birkenau
- Dr. Heinrich Rindfleisch
- Fritz Ritterbusch
- Dr. Karl Schmidt
- Kuno Schramm who also served at Dachau, Majdanek and Neuengamme
- Wilhelm Stoezler
- Otto Stoppel
- Rudolf-Heinrich Sutrop
- Dr. Heinz Thilo who also served at Auschwitz-Birkenau between 1942-1944
- Anton Thumann who also served at Dachau, Majdanek, Auschwitz and Neuengamme
- Karl Ulbrich who also served at Buchenwald and Majdanek
- Erich Woyworth who also served at Buchenwald

Dr. Karl Babor Camp doctor was an expert with the phenol syringe, he took care to always administer slightly more than the lethal dose – "just to make sure."

After the war he was interned by the Allies, but as one of the “small fry” who had done “nothing serious” he was released. He resumed his studies in Vienna and qualified as a doctor.

Former inmates of Gross-Rosen tracked him down and he fled to Africa. At first, the camp prisoners were put to work in the quarry owned by the SS- Deutsche Erd- und Steinwerke GmbH (SS German Earth and Stone Works) and in the construction of the camp, which was speeded up in the summer of 1943.

This was followed by the building of a large number of sub-camps - the number of prisoners grew steadily from 1,487 in 1941 to 97,414 on the eve of the camp's liquidation. A total of 125,000 prisoners of different nationalities passed through Gross-Rosen, the number of victims who perished in the camp and during the numerous evacuations is estimated at 40,000.

Jews represented the largest group among the victims in Gross-Rosen and their proportion in the camp population was considerable, particularly in late 1943 and early 1944. Beginning in late 1943, 57,000 Jews were brought there, including 26,000 women.

The assignment of Jews to the camp and their use as manpower for the German war effort resulted from a reorganisation of the SS methods for exploiting Jews and from the evacuation of the Plaszow labour camp and of the Auschwitz-Birkenau extermination camp.

The first Jewish prisoners to arrive in Gross-Rosen were sent there from Dachau, 48 Jews on 18 June 1941 and Sachsenhausen, 32 on 13 August 1941, 21 on 18 September 1941 and 94 on 29 September.

In 1942 small groups of Jews totalling 100 persons arrived from the Tarnow prison, in the Radom
Prisoners constructing Gross-Rosen

The mortality rate was high, and by the end of 1941, 84 had died, others became living skeletons, and in December 1941, 119 of these were victims of a Euthanasia programme selection.

The high mortality rate continued in 1942, prisoners classified as “disabled” were sent to Dachau, the last 37 Jewish prisoners were transferred to Auschwitz on 16 October of that year, in the course of an operation designed to remove Jews from all camps situated in the Reich. For a period of twelve months, Gross-Rosen was Juden-frei (free of Jews).

In October 1943 the influx of Jewish prisoners into Gross-Rosen was renewed, this time in substantial numbers, the first such group consisted of 600 prisoners transferred from the Markstadt labour camp, to Funfteichen, a sub-camp of Gross-Rosen, where they were put to work in Krupp factories.

Another group of 600 Jewish prisoners was put at the disposal of I.G. Farben, to work in the factories at Dyhernfurth, where poison gas was produced. Most of the Jewish prisoners were from Poland and Hungary, but others were from Belgium, France, Greece, Yugoslavia, Slovakia and Italy.

The Jewish prisoners of Gross-Rosen were distributed among over fifty sub-camps, designated as Arbeitslager, most of them were situated in Lower Silesia and the rest in Sudetenland and Luzyce. Some of these sub-camps were put up when Gross-Rosen took over a number of forced labour camps from the Organisation Schmitt.

The major Gross-Rosen sub-camps were as follows:


Brunnitz was the famous labour camp, that Schindler took his “Schindler’s Jews” to, after the evacuation of Plaszow forced labour camp, in Krakow. Before they went to Brunnitz, they first went to Gross-Rosen, the journey took three days. “We arrived in the afternoon, we had to take off our clothes.

It was cold. We remained naked from six in the afternoon until about noon the following day. There was nowhere to sleep,” later recalled Moshe Bejski.

On 25 November 1944 at Auschwitz-Birkenau the demolition of Crematorium II was commenced. “It is interesting,” a member of the Sonderkommando wrote, that first of all the ventilating motor and pipes were dismantled and sent to camps – some to Mauthhausen, others to Gross-Rosen.

In the first phase of the evacuation – the last ten days of January 1945 – the sub-camps on the eastern bank of the Oder were liquidated. The men’s sub-camps located there with their Jewish prisoners were moved to the Gross-Rosen. The women prisoners, for the most part, were transferred to concentration camps deep inside the Reich.

The prisoners were evacuated by foot, in what came to be known as Death Marches, in the harsh cold of winter and without food. Many prisoners perished on those marches, but no accurate estimate can be made of their number. The ultimate fate of some columns of prisoners remains unknown.

The main camp, Gross-Rosen itself, was evacuated in early February 1945 and the sub-camps thereafter. Although the prisoners in the main camp were evacuated by rail, the condition of the cars that were used – they normally carried coal – and the lack of food caused the death of many prisoners after a few days in transit.

The satellite camps were liberated by the Red Army on 8 and 9 May 1945, with large numbers of survivors.

Sources: